Z/ s 3 3 Téﬁggg
qu-
AEEE——

NOIRN R

January 8, 2003 02068075

570 Carillon Parkway
St. Petersburg, Florida 33716-1202
727-299-1800

fund | advisers

Office of Applications and Report Services
Securities and Exchange Commission

450 Fifth Street, NW

Judiciary Plaza

Washington, DC 20549

Re: Filing Pursuant to Section 33 of the Investment Company Act of 1940

Dear Sir or Madam:

On behalf of AEGON/Transamerica Series Fund, Inc. (formerly WRL Series Fund, Inc.) (the
“Fund”), enclosed is a copy of a complaint filed by beneficial owner of the Fund’s shares, on behalf of
himself and all similarly situated investors, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia
(Civ. Action No. 1-01-CV-2617-CAP). The complaint is being filed pursuant to Section 33 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940.

If you have any questions regarding this filing, please contact me at 727.299.1824.

Please acknowledge receipt of this filing by date-stamping the enclosed copy of this letter and
returning it in the envelope provided. '

PROCESSED
Sincerely, | JANT3NB
Yol . ConTie Houeos

John K. Carter
General Counsel, Vice President and Secretary

Enclosure

225248.1.03
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

.

JEFFERY L. JOHNSON, on behalf of himself o _ ‘
and all others similarly situated, Civil Action No. :
L : 1-01-CV-2617-CAP
Plamtiff,

- against - ' L ION:

AEGON USA, INC., WMA SECURITIES, INC.,
WORLD MONEY GROUP, INC., AEGON :
FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.. AFSG
SECURITIES CORPORATION. PFL LIFE
INSURANCE COMPANY, AUSA LIFE
INSURANCE COMPANY. INC., WESTERN
RESERVE LIFE ASSURANCE CO. OF OHIO
WRL SERIES FUND, INC., BANKERS UNITED :
LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY,
TRANSAMERICA LIFE INSURANCE AND
ANNUITY COMPANY, ABC CORP.. INC. 1
through ABC CORP,, INC. 99, LMN CORP.,

INC. T through LMN CORP., INC. 99, and

XYZ CORP..INC. 1 through XYZ CORP.,
INC. 99,
Defendants.
:x : |
CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs allege this class action complaint based upon personal
knowledge as to themselves, their own acts and the acts and statements of
defendants in which they participated directly; including the communications with,
representations made, and documentation and information provided to plaintiffs by
defendants in the ordinary course of business; and the investigation of their ¢oﬁnsel.
Counsels' investigation conducted on plaintiffs’ behalf, included, among other
things: (i) an analysis of publicly-available news articles and reports; (ii) a review
and analysis of public filings, including but not limited to any by defendants; (iii)
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press releases issued by defendants, and (iv) other matters of public record. ﬁe
allegations as to all other matters are based upon investigation by plaintiffs' |
attorneys and research of the applicable law with respect to the claims asserted
herein. '

NATURE. OF THE CASE .

1.  This class action arises from defendant's sale of deferred
annuities to members of the public. Deferred anmuities are marketed to, and i}often
purchased by, people who use them as investments for their retiremnent years. This
type of investment has become extraordinarily popular. Sales of variable dcfcncd
anmuities - which offer investment returns linked to stock market performance,
similar to rmtual funds — reportedly have increased from the $25 to $30 billiEOn
range in 1992 to gpproximately $100 billion or more.

2. The variable annuities at issue here are securities which have
been registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission @1ndcr
the Securities Act of 1933 and the Investment Company Act of 1940. Hence, they
are subject to the securitics laws, |

3.  Deferred anmuities have no place, however, m tax-dcferre%d
retirement accounts such as IRAs or 401(k)s which already have these very same
tax benefits. Nevertheless defendants actively marketed, through material
misrepresentations and omissions, their deferred annuity products for p]accnicnt m
such tax-deferred plans. |

4. The main selling point of deferred annuitics is that earnings on

investments contained in such annuities accumulate on a tax-deferred basis.

Deferred annuities sold by defendants are never appropriate investments for

2
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placement in tax-deferred retirement plans, because earnings on any investrnent
placed in such plans are already tax-deferred, and purchase of a deferred annuity
simply increases costs without any additional economic benefit.

5. Defendants charge double, triple, or more, the normal
commission rate for regular investment products (like mutual fimds or individual
securities) for variable annuities. Moreover, because of the subtraction of annual
management and camrying fees, calculated as a percent of total assets in the account,
purchasers are deprived of up to one-third of their total account value (compared to
a regular investment) over the years, and are not informed that the circmnstailces
under which the insurance features for which they are paying fees would hav:e any
value are remote. | ,

6.  Deferred anmuities are even less appropriate for older perlsons
who are required by law to commence withdrawing monies from their tax-deferred
investment accounts by age seventy and one-half. Such forced withdrawals defeat
the entire purpose of the annuity and the front loading of expense in such acci:ounts.

7. Despite the fact that the deferred annuities sold by defendants
are never appropriate investments for qualified retirement plans, defendants ;actively
recommended and sold these products to individuals and small business owners for
use in tax-deferred retirernent plans.

8.  The retirement savings market in the United States has .
undergone a revolution over the last two decades, Instead of guaranteed lifetime
pension benefits, calculated based on retirees' life expectancies, today's retirement
plans focus on maximizing asset accurnulation for retirement. Investrnent growth

on a tax-deferred basis accordingly has become an important goal, An investor who

3
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has contributed the annual maxirmum amount to his tax-deferred qualified pleian(s)
can invest unlimited additional sums on a tax-deferred basis through the puréhase of
a deferred annuity. '

9, A '"deferred annuity" -- the type of annuity at issue in th15
complaint -- has an accurnulation (or investinent) phase during which the pmf'chaser
invests money and allows the value of the account to grow (depending on the type
of investment vehicle that is chosen); and then a payout period during which!the
purchaser must redeem the amounts contributed and earned, with one such payout
option being an annuity. |

10. Deferred annuities typically contain two insurance fcaturées: an
anmuity payout option, as described above (other payout options, such as lunilp-sum
or systematic withdrawal, are much more popular); and a "death benefit" to ensure
that, if the account owner dies during the investment period, the heirs rcccivé some

 defined investment value (usually, the principal amount invested) even if the
investment has declined in value during that ime. In practice, the circumstances
under which the insurance features of a deferred annuity will have value are ircmotc
because (a) on average, fewer than 1 percent of deferred annuity owners chobsc to
exercise the annuity payout option at the end of the investment period and ('b) of the
contracts "surrendered" during the investment phase due to the death of the account
owner, few, if any, suffered investment losses of such a magnitude that any
meaningful death benefit is paid. This is particularly true because the insurance
companies insist on vetting all investment products purchased in these accounts to
insure that these accounts are managed conservatively. '

1

11.  Because of their insurance features, deferred annuities are

4
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deemed to be mortality products, and as such enjoy a privileged status undcr%the
income tax laws. Beginming with the Income Tax Law of 1913 (the first income tax
statute promulgated pursuant to the Sixteenth Amendment) and conﬁnuously;} atall
times thereafter, the Intemal Revenue Code has provided that annuities are tr;eated
as an instrument of insurance. Most significantly, this means that annuity eai-m‘n gs
(interest, dividends, or capital gains) accumulate on a tax-deferred basis. LR.C. §72.
This is true regardless of whether the contract owner elects to exercise his option to
purchase an annuity at the end of the investment period. |

12.  Because of their tax-deferred status, deferred annuities are
potentially attractive financial products to people seeking tax-deferral for thejir
retirement investments (and may be appropriate for those who have already made
their maximum contributions to IRAS or other qualified retirement plans avaﬂable
to them). However, the price of such tax-deferral is the very substantial fees;
charged by the sellers of deferred annuities -- fees that substantially exceed tixe fees
charged for similar non-annuity investment products like mutual funds. Ov& time,
these fees can reduce the amounts earned in the account by as much as one-third.

13.  Although deferred annuities may be appropriate i.nvestmeints for
some Tetirement plans, there is one category of retirernent plans for which thtia
deferred annuities sold by defendants are never appropriate: contributory plans and
accounts which themselves already enjoy tax-deferred status (and are thus
"qualified") under the Internal Revenue Code. These include many of the most
popular and common plans for retirement investing: Individual Retirement
Accounts (IRA), Keogh and 401 (k) plans, and other accounts treated sirnilaﬂy by
the tax code. Collectively, these are referred to as "qualified retirement pla.né." (An

5




ok

. 10.2002 1:33PM CONRAD O'BRIEN/2158649620 NO. 4983, P 7/51

- W2V vy

wa " riw=Holt herwens ein 212545 T-155  P.00TY050 F-848

|
|
)
i

individual purchases an annuity "contract,” and a participant in a group retir%ment
plan invested in a deferred annuity holds a "certificate,” evidencing his rightlk to an
account balance in the contract's fixed accounts and/or unit interests in variable
subaccounts offered within the deferred annuity.) I

14. Some companies, including defendants in this action, !
specifically have their employeses market and sell deferred annuities to peoptp who
are investing for their IRAs, Keoghs, 401(k)s, or other qualified retirernent plans :

15. Defendants' viewed as prime prospects unsophisticated ixiwcstors
who are leaving employment and need a rollover IRA in which to place the
proceeds of their employers’ qualified retirement plans while preserving its t%,lx-
deferred status, Because the proceeds are substantial lurnp sums such persons are
prime targets. Defendants also target; (a) small businesses, where decision-ﬁmkers
responsible for setting up 401 (k) and other qualified retirement plans are les'§ likely
10 be financially sophisticated, and (b) the employees of nonprofit orgam'zaﬁons,
hospitals, educational institutions, and state and local governmental units, who are
equally unsophisticated and have luxﬁp sum payments funding 403(b) and 457

~ plans.

16, Many people who are making investments for their reﬁrcﬁncnt --
particularly those who have changed jobs and are rolling over a large lump-simn
qualified plan distribution into an IRA - are unaware of the financial, tax, and
investment aspects of deferred armuities, Defendants, who are advisors and
fiduciaries with superior kmowledge about these matters and accordingly are;trusted
by their customers, nevertheless mislead these customers into purchasing |

inappropriate and unsuitable deferred annuities for placement into qualified |

6
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retirement plans. (It should be noted that companies other than defendants tﬁat sell

deferred annuities, the Fidelity group of companies for example, are careful got to
market their deferred annuities for placement in any qualified retirement plan.)

17. Defendants’ written sales presentation materials, matcria]é,
contracts, and prospectuses affimmatively mislead prospective customers intoz |
believing that deferred annuities may be appropriate investments for placcmént into .
qualified retirement plans, and fail to disc¢lose the inappropriateness and |
unsuitability of such investments and the highly remote circumstances in whfch the
expensive insurance features can provide any value, as more fully particularized.
below. Defendants have entered into a common course of conduct to effectuate
these profitable sales throughout the nation. These practices violate the Secgrities
Act of 1933 and the Investment Company Act of 1940, !

~ 18.  Plaintiffs are among those who have been injured and damaged
by defendamts' unlawful conduct.
| ES .

19.  Court appointed lead plaintiff Jeffery L. Jomson is 2 citizen and
resident of the State of Georgia. In or about June 2000, he purchased from
defendants, for a WMAS IRA account, a deferred variable annuity product of the
"Insurance Company Defendants” (as defined below). Mr. Johnson incorpofates by
reference his original plaintiff's certification previously filed with his origindil
complaint in this action.

20.  Plaintiff Mary Kathleen Hughes is a citizen and resident of the
State of California. On or about October 21, 1999, she purchased from defeﬁdants

a deferred variable annuity product of the Insurance Company Defendants.

9
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21.  Plaintiff Carolyn Gerin is a citizen and resident of the State of
California. On or about December 6, 1999, she purchased from defendants a
deferred variable annuity product of the Insurance Company Defendants. |

22, Defendant WMA Securities, Inc. ("WMAS") is incorporsted
under the laws of the State of Georgia and is a citizen of the State of Georgiaé with
1ts principal place of business in Duluth, Georgia. |

23. WMAS is a licensed broker-dealer, and during the releva:lfn time
period was a member of the NASD, ?

24. 'WMAS is in the top one percent of all broker-dealers
nationwide based on the number of its registered representatives,

!
25. Defendant World Money Group, Inc. is the parent company of

WMAS. |

26, Defendant AEGON USA, Inc. "AEGON USA") is
incorporated under the laws of the State of Iowa and has its headquarters in ‘
Baltimore, Maryland. :

27. AEGON USA is the United States operating arm and a
subsidiary of AEGON N.V., a Netherlands-based multinational financial sen%ices
conglomerate. (For example, AEGON USA owns insurance giant Transamerica
Corporation.) AEGON N.V. is headquartered in The Hague, Netherlands and it is
one of the ten largest insurance groups worldwide.

28. AEGON USA, through its subsidiaries, develops, markets and
underwrites fixed and variable annuities for sale through a diverse network of
distribution chanmels. The fixed and varizble annuities pertinent to this action are
offered for sale through banks, brokerage houses (including defendant WMAS) and

8
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other financial institutions. |
29,  AEGON USA transacts business throughout the United States,
including the State of Georgia, through its subsidiaries which are its operating

companies.

30. Defendant AEGON Financial Services Group, Inc. ("AEbON
Financial") is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON USA. |

31. AEGON Financial is organized under the laws of the Statc of
Minnesota, is headquartered in Iowa, and transacts business throughout the Umted
States, inchiding the State of Georgia, through its operating company subsidiaries.

32. AEGON Financial distributes and markets fixed and vari%ble
annuities for AEGON USA. AEGON Financial focuses on serving major ﬁnancml
mstitution accounts.

33. Defendant AFSG Securities Corporation ("AFSG Secuntles") is
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON USA. :

34, AFSQG Securities is orpanized under the laws of the State of
Pennsylvania and is headquartered in Iowa.

35. AFSG Securities underwrites variable annuities for AEGON
USA through AEGON Financial and others. [t is one of the principal underwriters
of the variable annuity contracts at issue here which were sold within the Staitc of
Georgia, It also distributes variable annuities for the AEGON group. ‘

36. AFSG Securities is 2 broker-dealer and a member of the NASD. |

37. Defendant PFL Life Insurance Company ("PFL") is an iﬂdirect,
wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON USA.

38. Defendant PFL is organized under the laws of the State o:f Iowa,

9
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l
is headquartered in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, and as of June 2000 (the time of the sale of
the contracts at issue here) it conducted business in 49 states including the Stéﬁe of
Georgia. l
39. PFL underwrites insurance annuity products marketed by
AEGON USA. | ;
- 40. Defendant AUSA Life Insurance Company, In¢. ("AUSA Life")
is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON USA. |
41.  AUSA Life is domiciled in the State of New York, with its
home office in Purchase, New York, and it is an active corporation registered %and in
good standing with the Georgia Secretary of State. l
42,  AUSA Life markets annuities for AEGON USA. '
43, Defendant Western Reserve Life Assurance Co, of Ohio
("WRL" or "Western Reserve") is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON
USA. ?
44, 'WRL is organized under the laws of the State of Ohio, cm'li'ently
13 headquartered in Florida, and it is an active corporation registered and in gdod
standing with the Georgia Secretary of State. l
45.  'WRL underwrites variable annuities for AEGON USA and it
was a principal underwriter for the variable annwuities at issue here. It issued Tl;le

prospectuses at issue here.

46. WRL Series Fund, Inc. is an issuer of the variable a.rmulty ‘
aww

47. Defendant Bankers United Life Assurance Company ("Bmiﬂcers
Life") is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON USA. / '

10
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|
48. Bankers Life is organized under the laws of the State of ]Jllowa, 15
headquartered in Jowa, and it is an active corporation registered and in good?
standing with the Georgia Secretary of State. |
49, Bankers Life underwrites variable annuities for AEGON USA.
50. Defendant Transamerica Life Insurance and Annuity C01:r1pany
is, upon information and belief, an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AEGON
USA. !

|
51.  Defendant Transamerica Life Insurance and Annuity Company

markets and sells the variable annuities at issue here.

52. Defendants ABC Corp., In¢. 1 through ABC Corp., Inc. 99 are
the other entities, owned or controlled directly or indirectly by AEGON USA,
which (like AFSG Securities, for example) also underwrite annuity policies ;f‘or
AEGON USA and/or enter into contracts with broker-dealers and other ﬁnaﬁcial
institutions for them to distribute these annuity policies.

$3.  Defendants LMN Corp, Inc. 1 through LMN Corp., Inc. |99 are
the other entities, owned or controlled directly or indirectly by AEGON US
which (like PFL for example in its distribution and marketing capacity) dJstr‘,ibute
and market fixed and variable annuities for AEGON USA. |

54. Defendants XYZ Corp., Inc. 1 through XYZ Corp., Inc. 59 are
the other broker-dealers and other financial institutions which (like WMAS)!
distribute fixed and vaniable annuities for (directly or indirectly) AEGON U$A.

55. AEGON USA, AEGON Financial, AFSG Securities, PEL,
AUSA Life, WRL, Bankers Life, Transamerica Life Insurance and Annuity 1}

Company, ABC Corp., Inc. 1 through ABC Corp., Inc. 99, and LMN Corp., éInc. 1

11
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through LMN Corp., In¢. 99, shall be referred to collectively as the "Insurance
Company Defendants”, |

56, All defendants will be referred to collectively as the
"defendants.”

57. 'WMAS marketed and sold insurance products, including fthe
variable annuity products at issue herein, which were developed and underwritten
by the Insurance Company Defendants.

ADDITIONAL JURISDICTION AND VENUE ALLEGATIONS

58. The Insurance Company Defendants are inextricably intertwined
with each other. All the Insurance Company Defendants (other than AEGOR
USA) function as operating subsidiaries of AEGON USA.

- <

59.  Written advertising materials, sales presentation materials,
prospectuses, statements of additional information, disclosures, and other wri:tten
materials used in connection with the sale of the defendants' insurance annuity
products to the public, are developed, approved, and disseminated by the In:w’lrance
Company Defendants. ‘ ‘

60. AEGON USA refers to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, w ie:ther
directly or indirectly owned, as "operating divisions." 1

61. The Insurance Company Defendants collectively conducti

business in all 50 states including the State of Georgia,

62. Defendant WMAS has an agreement with WRL on behal% of the

Insurance Company Defendants under which WMAS markets and sells the vanable
|
anmuity products at issue herem. ;

63. The variable annuity products at issue here are sold th:ouéhout

12
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the United States including within the State of Georgia. |
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS |
64.  Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and ail others
similarly situated as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Proced:pre
23(a) and 23(b)(3) on behalf of the following Class: a Class consisting of a]!l
persons who, from October 1, 1998 through October 1, 2001 inclusive, purchased
an individual deferred annuity contract or who received a certificate to a gropp

deferred annuity contract, issued, underwritten, marketed or sold by one of the
defendants, which was used to fund a contributory (not defined benefit) rctu'ramcnt
plan or arrangement qualified for favorable income tax treatment pursuant to
Internal Revenue Code sections 401(a) 401(k), 403(a), 403(b), 408(a), 408(b),
408(k), 408(p), 4084, or 457, Excluded from the class are defendants, ofﬁcers
directors, and agents of the defendants, members of their immediate fanuhes, their
legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns, and any entity in which an"y of the
defendants or any excluded person has a controlling interest, 1

65. The Class is composed of at least thousands of individuals, the
joinder of whom in one action is impracticable, and the disposition of their claims
in a class action will provide substantial benefits both to the parties and the (f,‘ourt.

66.  This action is properly maintainable as a class action for the
following reasons:

(a)  The class consists of at least thousands of people a:pd is

thus so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. |
(b)  There is a well-defined community of interest amoipg

class members in the questions of law or fact affecting the class which predominate

13
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over questions affecting only individual members. Those common quesnons: }
include but are not limited to: ?
| (i)  Whether defendants violated the federal secdlnties
law through the acts alleged herein and harmed the members of the Class;
(i) Whether defendants violated the Investment,
Company Act of 1940 through the acts alleged herein and harmed the mcmbqrs of
the Class; ,
(iii) Whether each defendant participated in the cburse
of conduct complained hereof; :
(v) Whefﬁcr each defendant profited by the wrmingful
conduct alleged herein; |
(v)  Whether plaintiffs and other members of theiclass
have sustained damages, and the proper measure of damages; I
(vi) Whether plaintiffs and other members of thelclass
are entitled to the injunctive and declaratory relief, and the reformation of thwI
annuities, requested herein. 5
(¢)  The claims asserted by plaintiffs are typical of the ¢Ia1ms
of class members. ;
(d)  Plaintifs are members of the Class and will airly and
adequately protect the interests of the class. They have no interests antagoni.%tic to
those of the other class members, Plaintiffs have retamed as counsel attorne};’s who
are knowledgeable and experienced in securities litigation and i insurance izé'tdustry
trade practices and sales methods, as well as class and complex litigation. 5

(¢) A class action is superior to other available rethods for

14
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the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy for at least the following
reasons: |

(i)  Given the size of individual class members' clam1s
most class members could not afford to seek legal redress individually for the'e
wrongs the defendants committed against them; i

(i) When defendants' liability has been adjudicated,

claims of all class members can be determined by the Court; |

(i) This action will cause an orderly and expeﬁﬁom
administration of the class claims and foster economies of time, effort and expense
and ensure uniformity of decisions; i

(iv) Without a class action, many class membersiwould
continue to suffer damages, and defendants' violations of law will be Withoutf
redress while defendants continue to reap and retain the substantial procccds{of
their wrongful conduct; and |

(v)  This action does not present any undue dlfﬁbulbes
that would impede its management by the Court as a class action. :

(vi) The names and addresses of the members oﬂ! the
Class can be ascertained from the books and records of defendants or its agerilts.

67. Plaintiffs seek damnages, including return of the excessivej and
unreasonable fee amounts paid by plaintiffs and other members of the class, and
reformnation of plaintiffs and other members of the class' investment contractjs 10
place them in the investment positions they would enjoy if they had not beeni
deceived into investing in defendants' inappropriate and unsuitable deferred '
annuities. Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief prohibiting defendants from '

15
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continuing to engage in such practices and from charging surrender fees to ar'xy
class member terminating a deferred annuity contract, and otherwise, as dcsc:n"bed

1

below.

The Solicitation and Sale of the Plaintiffs’ Variable Annuity Contracts |
68. In or about June 2000, court appointed lead plaintiff Jeffery
Johnson asked Marcy Blochowiak, a registered account representative with WMA.

Securities, Inc., to recommend a good investment for an TRA rollover accomit
("[RA."). .

1

|
69. Ms. Blochowiak at al] relevant times was acting on behalf of the
defendants.

70. Ms. Blochowiak recommended to Jeffery Johnson that hel fund
his IRA with the WRL variable annuity (which is a tax-deferred variable annnity).

71.  Jeffery Johnson was told by Ms. Blochowiak that a tax-deferred
variable annuity was an appropriate and suitable investment for placement iniian
IRA. |

72.  The uniform written advertising, sales materials, prospectus, and
written disclosure staternent given to Mr. Jolnson by the defendants stated thtat a
tax-deferred variable annuity was an appropriate and suitable investment for |
placement in an IRA. |

73.  WMAS and the other defendants did not disclose to M. '
Johnson in either the uniform written advertising, sales materials, prospectus; and
written disclosure statement (or otherwise) the following material facts, incl@dirig
that;

(2) a deferred annuity is always an inappropriate and unsuitable

16 5
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investment for placement in a tax-deferred retirement plan, because armong o&hﬂ
things earnings on any investment placed in such plans are already tax-dsfeni'ed_

(b) the deferred annuities defendants sell are never appmpriateé
investments for, and are always unsuitable investments for, placement into th:e
purchasers' tax-deferred qualified retirement plans. |

(c) tax benefits (at least as great as those obtained from a 'variat;le
annuity) were available from an imvesttnent in every one of the following typ;les of
contributory (not defined benefit) retirement plans or arrangements qualified for
favorable income tax treatment pursuant to Internal Revenue Code sections 401(a),
401(K), 403(a), 403(b), 408(a), 408(b), 408(k), 408(p), 408A, or 457 (all of \:vhich
are part of the Class definition and include IRAs and 401ks).

(d) The tax deferred accrual feature is provided by the tax—qualiﬁed
retirement plan and that the tax deferred accrual feature of the variable annunlry is
unnecessary. _ |

(¢) Defendants did not disclose that the compound effect of thc;;
unnecessary unreasonable and excessive commissions, fees and charges paidi for
defendants’ tax-deferred variable annuities can, over the course of a few deca?,des -
not counting any surrender fees -- consume as much as one-third of 2 retiremient

investor's accoun. ;

74.  On or about une 16, 2000, Mr. Johnson opened an IRA éccount :

with WMAS. .
75.  On or about June 16, 2000, Mr. Johnson purchased from%

defendants for his WMAS IRA account a WRL qualified annuity in the amount of

approximately $48,863.75, which WMAS caused WRL (on behalf of its¢lf and the

17
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other defendants) to issue to Jeffery L. Johnson, The policy number was
1553164004.

76.  Jeffery Johnson has received quarterly statements from thie
Insurance Company Defendants on behalf of all defendants. |

77.  'WMAS and Ms, Blochowiak on behalf of WMAS recewed
copies of the quarterly statements for Jeffery L. Johnson, which were sent to
WMAS and Ms. Blochowiak by the Insurance Company Defendants. |

78. In the Fall of 1999, a registered representative (who xmth‘lly was
with First Associated Securities Group, Inc. and then was with First Sccur111¢s
USA, Inc.) recommended to Ms. Hughes and Ms. Gerin, respectively, that th:Ey
each fund their tax-deferred IRA with a WRL tax-deferred variable annuity. |

79. Both Farst Associ:a_lted Securities Group, Inc. and First Setfmrities
USA, Inc. and the registered represenfative at all relevant tirnes were acting c[m
behalf of the Insurance Company Defendants. : |

80. On or about October 21, 1999, Ms. Hughes purchased froim
defendants for her IRA account a WRL qualified, tax-deferred variable anmﬁty
which First Associated Securities Group, In¢. caused WRL (on behalf of itse:lf and
the other defendants) to issue to Ms. Hughes. 5

81.  On or about December 6, 1999, Ms. Gerin purchased from
defendants for her IRA account a WRL qualified, tax-deferred variable annuity
which First Securities USA, Inc. caused WRL (on behalf of itself and the other
defendants) to issue to Ms. Gerin. :

18
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|
DEFENDANTS' MATERTAL, MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS

82. InMay 1999, the NASD issued NASD Notice to Membf';rs 99-
35, entitled “The NASD Reminds Members of Their Responsibilities Regarting the
Sales of Variable Annuities” (which is incorporated herein by reference), |
83. NASD Notice to Members 99-35 expressly stated that it “should
[be] disclose|d] to the customer that the tax deferred accrual feature is proviided by
the tax-qualified retirement plan and that the tax deferred accrual feature of the
variable annuity is unnecessary.” (at 231 no. 11). |
84. NASD Notice to Members 99-35 stated that a variable aJEmuity
~ “should [be] recommend[ed] . . . only when its other benefits, such as lifetirne
income payments, family protection through the death benefit, and guarameéd fees,
support the recommendation.” (at 231 no. 11).
85. Defendants had a number of virtually identical written }
documents including prospectuses, statements of additional information, salés
presentation materials, contracts, and disclosures (so-called), for variable am?mities
in effect during the Class Peniod, which defendants used to sell the variable ;
annuities to prospective purchasers, }
86. These written materials contained material rrﬁsrcpresentaitiOns
and material omissions. l
87. Defendants selected as targets for their sales campaign pérsons
interested in funding qualified retirement plans. Sales of deferred annuities }Lnto
qualified retirement plans, based upon these uniform, written documents, ha%l/e been
and continue to be an enormous markeﬁng success for defendants. Defenda;:ns

I
have received and continue to receive millions of dollars from the sales of deferred

1
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annuities for qualified retirement plans, which sales were and are predicated ulpon
the materially misleading written documents. ,

88. The prospectuses, statements of additional information,

contracts, disclosures for variable annuities, written sales presentation matenals and
other written documents, were written by the Insurance Company Defendants pnd

contain on them the name and/or logo of one or more of the Insurance Company
Defendants, ‘ i

89. Since under federal law a variable annuity is always sold |

pursuant to a prospectus, defendants were legally mandated to always give a |
prospective purchaser a prospectus prior to purchase. (That prospectus either |
would contain or would incorporate by reference the registration statement and} the

statement of additional information.) '

90. The Insurance Company Defendants issued the following $EC
filings, which the defendants used to sell the variable annuities at issue here to
plaintiffs and other members of the Class. ‘

91. Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference the following uniform,

written materials (prospectuses, statements of additional information, registratfon
statements and amendments, and other writings, and any document incorporat%d by
them) which were routinely used to sell the variable annuities at issue. |

(a) The following SEC filings, which are incorporated by |
reference, were issued and used to sell the WRL Series Fund, Inc.: Prospcctusi and
Statement of Additional Information (both dated May 1, 1998 and filed pm‘suéfnt 10
Registration Statement); Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information (i:both

dated May 1, 1999); Prospectus as supplemented September 10, 1999; Prospeci:tus

20 |
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and Statement of Additional Information (both dated May 1, 2000), ProsPectL& and
Statement of Additional Information (both as supplemented and amended as
August 30, 2000); Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information (both dated
December 1, 2000); Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information (bot
dated May 1, 2001); Registration Statement Under The Securities Act Of 1933;,
Post-Effective Amendment No. 45 and Registration Statement Under The l
Investment Company Act Of 1940, Amendment No. 46 (both filed and effectilve on
May 1, 2001); Registration Statement Under The Securities Act Of 1933, Posf:- |
Effective Amendment No. 46 and Registation Staternent Under The Investment
Company Act Of 1940, Amendment No. 47 (both filed May 2, 2001); Rzgisuéﬁon
Statement Under The Securities Act Of 1933, Post-Effective Amendment No.%47
and Registration Statement Under The Investment Company Act Of 1940, |
Amendment No, 48 (both filed July 13, 2001 and effective July 16, 2001): and

|

Prospectus supplement of August 27, 2001, |
(b) The following SEC filings, which are incorporated by
reference, were issued and used to sell the WRL Serjes Annuity Account: (1) WRL
Bellwether Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of Additional :
Information dated May 1, 1998, May I, 1999, May 1, 2000, and May 1, 2001); (2)
WRL Freedom Attainer Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of !
Additional Information dated May 1, 1998, May 1, 1999, May 1, 2000, and May 1,
2001); (3) WRL Freedom Conqueror Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and |
Statements of Addifional Information dated May 1, 1998, May 1, 1999, May 1,
2000, and May 1, 2001); (4) WRL Freedom Variable Annuity Variable Annuib

(Prospectuses and Statements of Additional Information dated May 1, 1998, May 1,

1
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1999, May 1, 2000, and May 1, 2001); (5) WRL Freedom Wealth Creator Vénable
Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of Additional Information dated May [,
1998, May 1, 1999, May 1, 2000, and May 1, 2001); (6) WRL Freedom Pren‘mer
Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of Additional Information datcd
October 8, 1999, May 1, 2000, and May 1, 2001); (7) WRL Freedom Accessl
Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of Additional Information dzitod
November 9, 1999, May 1, 2000, and upon information and belief May 1, 20;01);
(8) WRL Freedom Enhancer Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statementsi of
Additional Information dated May 17, 2000, and May 1, 2001); and (9) WRI,
Freedom Select Variable Anuity (Prospectuses and Statements of Additional
Information dated Septerniber 15, 2000, and May 1, 2001). |

(¢) The following SEC filings, which are incorporated ‘by
reference, were issued and used to sell the WRL Series Annuity Account B: Janus
Retirement Advantage Variable Annuity (Prospectuses and Statements of | -
Additional Information dated May 1, 1998; May 1, 1999; May 1, 2000; and May 1,
2001 as supplemented July 31, 2001). i

(d) Prospective purchasers of the variable annuities rouﬁely
also were given (and had to sign when purchasing) a document from WRL entitled
"Disclosure for Variable Annuities” which contained the same material
misrepresentations and/or material omissions. Such uniform disclosure for v'ariable
annuities, signed by Mr, Johnson, is Exhibit 1 hereto and incorporated herein?.

(e) Prospective purchasers of defendants' variable annuiti%:s
routinely also were given a document from WRL entitled "Disclosure Statexﬂent
and Application Supplement for Individual Retirement Annuity Flexible Payfment

22
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Variable Accumuiation Deferred Annuity Contract”" which contained the sange
material misrepresentations and/or material omissions. A copy of such docujknent,
given to Mr. Johnson, is Exhibit 2 hereto and incorporated berein by reference.

92.  Each of these prospectuses, statements of additional |
information, written sales presentation materials, contracts and written disclc%sures
for variable annuities, which have been incorporated herein by reference, contained
the same or similar material misrepresentations (in essentially identical langtilage)
and/or omitted to disclose material facts to plaintiffs and the class members é)r their
employers (who were prospective purchasers of the variable annuities at issufe here),
by presenting defendants' deferred anmuities as appropriate for placement intb
(among other options) tax~-deferred plans or accounts, such as IRAs and 401(k)s

93.  For example, none of the prospectuses, statements of addtmonal
information (pursuant to the NASD requirement or otherwise) "disclose[d] tc:a the
customer that the tax deferred acerual feature is provided by the tax~qua1iﬁe‘fi
retirement plan and that the tax deferred accrual feature of the variable annuity is
unnecessary.” (emphasis added). ﬁ

94. A typical prospectus used during the Class Period stated:;

This Contract is available to individuals as well as to certain groups
and individual retirernent plans. . |

WHO SHOULD PURCHASE THE CONTRACT? We have designed
this Contract for people seeking long-term tax deferred accumulation
of assets, generally for retirement. This includes persons who have
maximized their use of other retirement savings methods, such as
401(k) plans and individual retirement accounts. The tax-deferrpd
feature is most attractive to people in high federal and state tax

23
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brackets. You should not buy this Contract if you are looking fon a

short-term investment or if you cannot take the risk of getting back
less money than you put in. If you are purchasing the Contract |
through a tax-favored arrangement, including tradidonal IRAs and
Roth TRAs, you should consider carefully the costs and benefits of the
Contract (mclud:mg annuity income benefits) before purchasing the

Contract, since the 1ax-favored arrangement itself provides tax-
sheltered growth. .

INITIAL PURCHASE REQUIREMENTS The initial purchase
payment for nonqualified Contracts must be at Jeast $5,000, However,
yol may make a minjmum initial purchase payment of $1,000, rather
than $5,000, if you indicate on your application that you annc1pake |
making minimurn monthly payments of at least $100 by electronic funds
transfer. For traditional or Roth IRAs, the minimum initial purchase
payment is $1,000 and for qualified Contracts other than tradmonal or
Roth IR As, the minimurn initial purchase payment is $50. .

|
: i
QUALIFIED AND NONQUALIFIED CONTRACTS |
!
If you purchase the [variable annuity] Contract under an individual
retirement annuity, 2 403(b) plan, 457 plan, or pension or profit -
sharing plan, your Contract is referred to as a qualified Contract.

. |
If you purchase the Contract as an individual and not under a qudlified
Contract, your Contract is referred to as a nonqualified Contract.

Because variable annuity contracts provide tax deferral whether i
purchased as 2 qualified Contract or nonqualified Contract, you should
consider whether the features and benefits unique to variable annuities
are appropriate for your needs when purchasing a qualified Cont;ract.

A qualified Contract may be used in connection with the followiilng plans:
+ Individual Retirement Anmuity (IRA): A traditional TRA allows

24
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individuals to make contributions, which may be deductible, to tHe
Contract, A Roth IRA also allows individuals to make contributions to
the Contract, but it does not allow a deduction for contributions. Roth

IRA distributions may be tax-free if the owner meets certain rules.

» Tax-Sheltered Annuity (403(b) Plan): A 403(b) plan may be mp.de
available to employees of certain public school systems and tax- !

exempt organizations and permits contributions to the Contract on a
pre-tax basis.

» Corporate Pension and Profit-Sharing and H.R. 10 Plans: Employers
and self-employed individuals can establish pension or profit-shdring
plans for their employees ‘or themselves and make contributions to the
Contract on a pre-tax basis. |

|
» Deferred Compensation Plan (457 Plan); Certain govemmental and
tax-exempt organizations can establish 2 plan to defer compensation
on behalf of their employees through contributions to the Contrat:t

(WRL Freedom Wealth Creator, May 1, 2001, at unnumbered ﬁrst
page, 6, 14, 23). |

95.  This statemen also is a material misrepresentation because it
recommended fax-deferred variable annuities for tax-deferred retirement accopnts-

96.  All of the prospectuses, statements of additional information,
contracts and written disclosures incorporated herein failed to disclose (pumu;lnt to
the NASD Notice or otherwise) the following material facts (among others), ';

97.  Defendants failed to disclose that the deferred annuities |
defendants sell are not appropriate investruents for, and ar¢ unsuitable investments
for, placement into the purchasers' tax-deferred qualified retirement plans,

98.  Defendants failed to disclose that tax benefits (at least as gilreat

as those obtained from a variable annuity) wete available from an invesment'in

t
!

]
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every one of the following types of contributory (not defined benefit) reﬁrexﬂent
plans or arrangements qualified for favorable incorne tax treatment pursuant :to
Internal Revenue Code sections 401(a), 401(k), 403(a), 403(b), 408(2), 408({5),
408(k), 408(p), 408A, or 457 (which is the Class definition herein, and mclu&cs
IRAs and 401ks). |

99.  Defendants failed to disclose that the tax deferred accruaf
feature 15 provided by the tax-qua.hﬁed retirement plan and that the tax defez'red
accrual feature of the variable annuity is unnecessary.

100. Defendants failed to dxsclose that the purchase of a tax- deferred
annuity in an already tax-deferred reuremcnt account increases the total amoimt paid
by the investor while providing only the same or lesser tax benefit to the invg:zstor.

101. The material misrepresentations and material omissions |
described above were contained in the uniform, written, advertising materials, sales
presentations materials, prospectuses, contracts, disclosures, and other written
documents prepared, approved, and disseminated by defendants in selling deferred
annuities to plaintiffs and other members of the class. '

102. The misrepresentations and omissions described above wiere
material. Plamtffs and other members of the class would not have pu:rchasejd
deferred variable annuities from defendants for placement in their qualified 1
retirement plans if they had been told the truth, instead of baving been told the
material misrepresentations and material omissions identified above in this Sithion
entitled "Defendants' Material Misrepresentations and Omissions," j

103. As the result of engaging in the routine conduct of their ﬁusincss
or through common sense, each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing
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that their misrepresentations and omissions were material. '

104. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing tha{ there
was no addinonal tax benefit from purchasing a tax-deferred variable annuity ﬁor an
already tax-deferred retirement account,

105. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing thbt the
deferred annuities sold by defendants are never appropriate investments for §
placement in tax-deferred retirement plans, because defendants knew that em:iings
on any investment placed in such plang are already tax-deferred.

106. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing thaj{ 1ax
benefits (at least as great as those obtained from a variable annuity) were avaiilable
from an investment in every one of the following types of contributory (not defined
benefit) retirement plans or arrangements qualified for favorable income tax
treatment pursuant to Internal Revenue Code sections 401(a), 401(k), 403(a), i
403(b), 408(a), 408(b), 408(k), 408(p), 408A, or 457 (which is the Class deﬁl:nirion
herein, and includes IRAs and 401ks). | i

107. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing thant the
tax deferred accrua) feature is provided by the tax-qualified retirement plan and that
the tax deferred accrual feature of the variable annuity is unnecessary. !

108. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing tha;‘t the
compound effect of the unnecessary unreasonable and excessive commissions, fees
and charges paid for defendants' tax-deferred variable annuities can, over the icourse
of a few decades -~ not counting any surrender fees -- consume as much as oﬂlc-

: , . i
third of a retiremnent mvestor's account. !

109. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing thz{t the

!
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purchase of a deferred annuity in an already tax-deferred retirement account merely
increases the costs, fees and commissions paid by the investor without any
additional economic benefit to the investor.

110. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing that
commission charges on the purchase of vanable annuities generally were at least
two to three times higher, and in many cases would be between 20 and 100 times
higher, than the purchase for an IRA account of equity securities of the same|value.

111, Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing that the
purchase of a deferred annuity in an already tax-defetred retirement account
materially increases the total amount paid by the investor while providing only the
same or lesser tax benefit to the investor. i

112. Variable annuities are subject to both federal and state
regulation including regulation under the federal securities laws.

113. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing th.lat it
must obey the applicable laws, rules, and regulations under the federal securities
laws, of the United States, including the rules and regulations of the SEC, N,f&SD
and other self-regulatory organizations.

114. Each defendant knew or was negligent in not knowing that the
marketing and sale of variable annuities was subject to the unsuitability stan&ard of
the NASD.

115. AFSG Securities and WMAS were members of the NASI:).
116. Upon information and belief, other AEGON-affiliated enfities,
either those specifically identified as a defendant herein or "John Doe" defendant(s)

|
generally identified herein, are broker-dealers and members of the NASD., |
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117, AFSG Securities and WMAS also have compliance, operational,
and other manuals. |
118. Their respective manuals state that each firm and its emploiyees
are subject to and must obey all applicable laws, rules and regulations. {
119. The compliance, operational, and other manuals of a registered
broker-dealer routinely require all employees to read the manual and to follov\ir the
rules contaimed therein. g
120. The NASD routinely disseminates Notices to Members to !:
-members and relevant entities. .
121. Tt is the responsibility of NASD member broker-dealers toi
obtain and review NASD Notices to Members.
122. The Insurance Company Defendants and WMAS had recelivcd
NASD Notice to Members 99-35. ]
123, Inits June 2002 report of disciplinary actions for May 20d2, the
NASD stated that by a letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent, WMAS wals
censured, fined $200,000, and required to pre-file with the NASD's Advertising
Regulation Department all advertisements and sales literature ("ASL") prior tio their
use for a six month period. Without admitting or denying the allegations, WAS
consented to the described sanctions and the entry of findings that it engaged;in
widespread breaches of NASD Advertising Regulations including "the use of! ASL
omitting material facts" and "containing misleading statements." E
DAMAGES
124. As a direct result of defendants' misconduet, plaintiffs and other

mernbers of the class also have paid commissions, fees and charges in excess'of
|

29




DEC. 10,2002 1:40PM CONRAD Q" BRIEN/2158649620 NO. 4983T P, 32/51
Dav=u=uc  uz; uspm rroo-¥olt Haiqenstein +212548 T-156  P.031Y/050 F=g4p

what they would have paid for appropriate and suitable investments placed 111 an
already tax qualified retirement plan, The damages suffered by class members
include but are not limited to the following. .

125. The initial costs and carrymg costs of the already tax-dcfcrred
retirement arrangements were materially lower than the initial costs and ca.n'ymg
costs for the purchase of variable annuities. ;

126. Sales commissions paid to those who sell deferred mui$es are
two to three times higher than the commissions paid on pure investment pro#ucts,
such as mutual funds -- thus motivating defendants' to target the qualified '
retirernent plan market for selling defendants' deferred annuity products, |

127. The mortality insurance features were optional, extra coslt itemns
not necessary for qualified plan retirement investors to achieve a tax-favorc(i basis
for their investment. !

128. Indeed, the mortality and expense charge itself could be |
approximately 1.40%, or more, anhua]]y, which could easily exceed the cost ito
purchase individual stocks or mutual funds.

129. The insurance features of their deferred annuities providﬁid no
benefit or economyic value except in the highly remote circumstances of a severe
and sudden market collapse of enormous proportions. Moreover, the beneﬁtis of
annuitization can be obtained by any person at any time as an immediate ann;;uity,
and the lock-in of a minirum annuitization rate offered by a deferred annuitgi,' at the

inception of the contract can have value only if human life expectancy dramatically

increased during the annuity's investment phase, the likelihood of which is remote.
130. When present, the death benefits could be purchased far fgnore

|
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economically through a normal term life insurance policy. Moreover, the death

benefit insurance feature is rarely invoked, because few of the contracts surrendered
due to death during their investment phase involve losses that result in payme{u of
any meaningful death benefit (i.e., investment losses depleting the account vaiue 10)
less than. the principal amount invested). j

131. Deferred annuities also have back-end loads, or " su:rendexi-
fees," which are assessed in the event that the contract owner elects to withdreinw
invested funds prior to the expiration of a contractually specified period. The! fees
are caleulated as a percentage of the withdrawn funds and typically amount to the 6
to 9 percent if the "surrender” occurs in the first year and on a declining scalei
thereafter for 7 to 10 years. With many contracts, the surrender fee period beéins
anew for each additional investment of principal after the initial investment. ”j;l'he
surrender fees are an inherently unreasonable and excessive annuity fee. ‘

132. 'With respect to the fixed-rate account optionina variable!
anmuity, the exact amount of the insurer's fee for that annuity, is generally theé
spread between the return on general account investments (the retwrn on the ~
consurners invested funds) and the interest rate credited to contract owners. These
fees are usually substantial, often 2 to.3 percent of the total account value anﬂ;ually.

133. Wit a variable annuity, the annuity fees are typically in tlin:
form of annual asset-based percentage charges assessed against the contract dwncr‘s
account value. These fees are in addition to the asset-based investment mmaéement
fees assessed by the managers of the investments. The two major asset-based:
annuity fees are the daily "mortality and expense-risk” (M&E) charge, whiché
averages 1.25 percent annually according to industry surveys, and the daily
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"administration” charge, an additional 0.15 percent annually.

134. A policy maintenance charge of $25 to $40 is assessed mually
against annuity accounts, i

135. The annuity fees collected by defendanis are so high in part
because of the high commission rates defendants pay salespersons for the selling of
the deferred annuities. If an annuity purchaser decides to terminate his or hcré
mvestment within the first six or eight years -- i.¢., before defendants have hah a
chance to collect enough in annual annuity fees to cover the sales commissionj paid
1o the agen -- the additional surrender fee provides defendants with funds to :cover
the full amount of commissions, As a result, plaintiffs and the class members,f are
trapped: by the time they realize they are paying exorbitant annual asset-basec:h
annuity fees out of their retirement accounts for unwanted "insurance" feature{s
which are in fact hidden sales charges, the only way they can extract themsehitcs
from the arrangement 1s 10 pay a further large asset-based surrender fee, which is
used to finance the compensation of the agent that recommended the inapproﬁriate
and unsuitable deferred annuity investment in the first place. '

136. The compound effect of these unreasonable and excessive é.nndw
fees, commissions and charges, paid by class members for defendants' tax—dcf:ferred
variable annuities, over the course of a few decades -- not counting any smrendeir fees -
- can consume as much as one-third of aretirement investor's account value compared

to a regular investment.

!
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- FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
For Violation of § 11 of the Securities Act and ':

for Control Person Liability Under § 15 of the Securities Act |
137. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing paragraphs as ]if
fully set forth herein. i

138. The defendants in this ¢laim under Secnon 11 of the Secuhnes
Act are AFSG Securities, PFL, WRL, WRL Series Fund, Bankers Life, A.BCI Corp "
Inc. 1 through ABC Corp., Ingc, 99. ‘

139. These defendants were the issuers and underwriters of the
variable annuities at issue here, which were sold pursuant to the prospectusesi.

140. The defendant in this claim for control person liability mém
Section 15 of the Securities Act is AEGON USA. o

141. These defendants participated in the preparation of, issued?,
cauged to be issued and participated in the issuance of the Registration Staten{jxents,
prospectuses and SOAIs (if any), contracts, disclosures and other written :
documents, each of which was inaccurate and contained material misstatemex::ts or
failed 1o disclose, inter alia, certain material facts, as set forth herein. |

142, None of these defendants made a reasonable investigatioq: or
possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in qgie
Registration Staternents, prospectuses, disclosures and other documents, werq true
and were not misleading. |

143. The section 11 defendants assisted in the preparation of thie
Registration Statements, prospectuses, disclosures, and other documents, and'gwere
required to investigate with due diligence the representations contained thereilln to

confirm that they did not contain material misstaternents or omit to state material

33 |
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facts. AFSG Securities and WRL each did not perform this investigation witl;lm due
diligence and, indeed, had a substantial direct interest in the success of the offfering,
as detailed above and, thus, is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act.

144. The section 11 defendants were responsible for the preparation

of the Registration Statements, prospectuses, contracts, disclosures, and otheri
documents, and failed to make a reasonable investigation or possess reasonable
grounds for believing that the representations contained in them were true and that
they disclosed all material facts. |

145. AEGON USA is a controlling person pursuant to Section {.15 of
the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 770, through stock ownership and otherwise, dnd
because it controlled the dissemination of the Registration Statements, prospc:ﬁ:tuses,
contracts, disclosures, SOAIs (if any),'and other documents, and had and cxcxicised
the power and influence to cause the other defendants to engage in the conduét
complained of herein, and had the power to cause the other defendants to refrain
from the conduct complained of herein.

146. AEGON USA is secondarily liable as a control person of the

other defendants primarily liable under Section 15 of the Securities Act.

147. As a direct and proximate result of the material misstatem}:nts
and omissions in the Registration Statements, prospectuses, SOATs, disclosur%:s and
contracts, hundreds of millions and possibly billions of dollars of variable anuities
were sold. '

148. Plaintiffs and other Class members purchased their variable
annuities without kmowledge of the material misstatements or omissions therJin.

- |
149. This action was brought within one year after the discovery of

|
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the material misstatements and material omissions and within three years after the
variable annuities were offered to the public through the relevant prospectusds.
150. By virtue of the foregoing, the defendants on this Section|11

claim violated Section 11 of the Securities Act and are liable 10 plaintiffs and the
other members of the Class. |

151. AEGON USA violated Section 15 of the Securities Act, qfnd is

liable to plaintiffs and the other members of the Class. |

152. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ unlawful éonduct
as alleged herein, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class suffered damages in
connection with their purchases of the variable annuities during the Class Penod

I
'

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF ;
For Violation of § 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act and |
For Control Person Liability Under § 15 of the Securities Act |

153. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing allegations as if fully
set forth herein. |

i
I
|

154. The defendants in this claim under Section 12 of the Swszrities
Act are WMAS, AEGON Financial, AFSG Securities, PFL, AUSA Life, WRL,
WRL Series Fund, Inc¢., Bankers Life, Transamerica Life Insurance and Anmnty
Company, ABC Carp., Inc. 1 through ABC Corp., Inc. 99, LMN Corp., Inc. 1
through LMN Corp., Inc. 99, and XYZ Corp,, Iuc. 1 through XYZ Corp., Inc 99,

155. Each defendant was a seller, offeror, and/or solicitor of s!ales of
the variable annuities for their financial benefit pursuant to the Registration |
Statements, prospectuses, SOAIs, conrracts, written disclosures and sales |

presentation materials, in connection with the offering.
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156. None of the defendants named in this Count made a reasonable
investigation or possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements
contamed in the Registration Statements, prospectuses, contracts, disclosures,
SOAIs, and other documents, were true, without omissions of any material faﬁ:ts
and were not misleading.

157. The Registration Statements, prospectuses, contracts,
disclosures, SOAIs, and other documents contained misstatements of material, facts
and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statemenis made not
nusleading. Defendants' actions of solicitation included but were not limited to the

preparation of the materially misleading Registration Statements, prospectuse%,
contracts, disclosures and other documents disseminated to public investors. {
158, Each defendant was responsible for the preparation of the :
Registration Statements, prospectuses, coniracts, disclosures and other documents,
and failed to make a reasonable investigation or possess reasonable grounds for

believing that the representations contained in those documents were truc and|that

they disclosed all material facts, |
159. By virtue of the foregoing, WMAS, ABGON Financiel, AFSG
Securities, PFL, AUSA Life, WRL, WRL Series Fund, Inc., Bankers Life, ABC
Corp,, Inc. 1 through ABC Corp., Inc.:99, LMN Corp., In¢. 1 through LMN (‘;,'orp.,
Inc. 99, and XYZ Corp., Inc. 1 through XYZ Corp., Inc. 99, are each pﬁmaril:y

liable under Section 12 of the Securities Act. |

160. The defendants in the claim for control person liability under
Section 15 are AEGON USA, as the chief United States parent company for |

AEGON N.V. and given AEGON USA's ultimate ownership of the other AEGON-
|

|
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affiliateqd defendants; AEGON Financial, by virtue of its ownership of AFSG
Securities, and World Money Group, Inc. as the parent of WMAS. Each of th
defendants had the power to influence and control and did influence and comrol

144

€

dlrectly or indirectly, the decision-making and conduct of the respective defendams

161. AEGON USA, AEGON Financial, and World Money Group are
controlling persons pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7‘70,
through stock ownership and otherwise, and because each controlled the i
dissemination of the prospectuses, contracts, disclosures and other documents,i
and/or had and exercised the power and influence to cause the defendants it |
controlled to engage in the conduct complained of herein, and had the power t:b
cause those other defendants to refrain from the conduct complained of herem;L

162. Each of these defendants did not have no knowledge of; 01::
reasonable grounds to believe in, the existence of the facts by reason of whlch1 :the
liability of the controlled person is alleged to exist.
' 163. AEGON USA, AEGON Financial, and World Money Gro;up,
Inc., each are secondarily liable as conirol persons under Section 15 of the l

Securities Act. Each violated Section 15 of the Securities Act, and is liablé¢ to
i

plaintiffs and the other members of the Class.

164. Plaintiffs and other members of the Class purchased the vinable
annuities issued pursuant to the materially misleading Registration Statementsl,
prospectuses, contracts, disclosures and other documents. Plaintiffs did not k;now,
or in the exercise of due diligence could not have known, of the materially |

i
1

|
i |
i
l

mysleading staterments and ormissions contained in these documents.
165. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ unlawful conduct

i
t
'
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as alleged herein, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class suffered damzllges n

connection with their purchases of variable annuities during the Class Period
166. Plaintiffs, individually and representatively, hereby elect fo
- rescind and tender to the seller those securities that plaintiffs and the other m%mbers
of the Class continue to own, in renmmn for the consideration paid for those secf:urities
together with interest thereon. Plaintiffs and members of the Class who havei sold
their variable annuity shares are entitled to rescissory damages. I
167. This action was brought within one year after discovery df the
material misstatements and material omissions and within three years after thEe
variable annuities were offered to the public pursuant to the prospectus. |
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF f
for Violation of § 80a-33 of the Ynvestment Company Act of 1940

and for Control Person Liability under the '40 Act i
168. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing allegations asjif fully

set forth herein.
169. The defendants in this claim for liability under the Investx]nent
Company Act of 1940 are AFSG Securities, WRL and WRL Series Fund, In
170. As set forth above, in the Registration Stateroents, prospectuses,
contracts, disclosures, SOAIs, and other documents, each defendant made |
misstatements of material fact and omitted to state in each of those docurnents facts

O

necessary in order to prevent the statements made therein, in the light of the |

circumstances under which they were made, from being materially nﬁslcadin;g.
171. By virtue of the foregoing, each defendant has violated Sgction

80a-33(b) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, and is liable to plainu'ffsiand

|
|
i
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the other members of the Class.
172. AEGON USA is a controlling person as defined under the
Investment Company Act of 1940.

173. AEGON USA violated the Investment Company Act of 1940,
and is liable to plaintiffs and the other members of the Class. ’

174. As a direct and proximate result of defendants' unlawful conduct
as alleged herein, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class suffered dama!rges In
connection with their purchases of variable annuities during the Class Period,

175. This action was brought within one year after discovery o;? the
material misstatements and material omissions and within three years after théz

variable annuities were offered to the public pursuant to the relevant prospecﬂuses.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, Against All Defendants

176. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing allegations as if fully
set forth herein.

177. There is a real controversy between the parties which is
justiciable in character as alleged in this complaint. On each cause of action stated
above, plaintiffs and other members of the class will be irreparably injured in the
future by defendants' misconduct to the extent that defendants continue to impose

surrender fees upon any plaintiff or class member's election to terminate a deferred

anouity contract. |
178. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the other memberg of the

class, secks a judgment declanng that defendants must cease charging surrender

fees, and enjoining defendants from chargmg or collecting surrender fees wmh
respect to any qualified annuity contract.
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179. Plaintiffs, for themselves and on behalf of the class, also sc:':cks
imjunctive relief enjoining defendants from the solicitation or sale of qualified

annuities, and the assessment or collection of fees on such annuities, as deﬁnéd
. , . i
herein, based upon the conduct described herein., |

180. Plaintiffs and other members of the class do not have a plz{in,
adequate, speedy, or complete remedy at law to address the wrongs alleged inf this
complaint, and will suffer irreparable injury as a result of defendants’ misconc;iuct

unless injunctive and declaratory relief1s granted. - 1

181. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiffs and other members of the

class are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as set forth above. j
|
i

FIFTH CLATM FOR RELIEF
Reformation, Against All Defendants :

182. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth abo‘{le asif
fully set forth herein. 11

183, As alleged herein, defendants uniformly represented to plémtlffs
and other members of the class or their employers that plaintiffs and other m@mbers
of the class were purchasing or receiving investment products appropriate foxjr
placement into plaintiffs' and class members' qualified retirement plans. 3

184. The deferred apnuities provided by defendants contained;
characteristics and values defendants did not adequately disclose to plaintiff:i and
other members of the class and which were inconsistent with the parties' agrécmem
as alleged above. Plaintiffs' and class members' deferred annuity contracts hfave
now been partially performed. |

185. As alleged herein, the contracts were procured from plailjltiffs
40 |
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|
|

and other members of the class or their employers by defendants as a result of
defendants' material misrepresentations and omissions.

186. As a result of the foregoing, plaintiffs and other members of the
class are entitled to equitable reformation of the contracts, to provide an apprchriatc
investment product agreed to by the parties. !

REQUESTS FOR RELIEF ;

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs dernand judgment individually and on behalf of the
Class against defendants jointly and séverally as follows: ;

(2) - An order certifying that this action may be maintained as a class action on
behalf of the Class; ‘

(b) Compensatory damages in an amount to proven at trial; ‘

(¢) Anaward of prejudgment and postjudgment interest, |
(d) An order providing for declaratory and injunctive relief, inclu ; g the
following: !

(1) An order declaring defendants' conduct to be in violation of law,!

(2) An order declaning that defendants' fees charged or assessed for d,lLeferred
annuities invested in qualified retirement plans are unreasonable and exccssi\:re;

(3) Anorder enjoining defendants from charging surrender fees with:*respect
to any qualified annuity contract; :

(4) An order declaring that defendants must remove unreasonal%le and
excessive fees charged to plaintiffs and other mernbers of the class and restore their
contract values accordingly: |

(5) Anorder enjoining defendants from soliciting sales of or selling cLaferred

l
annuities for placement in qualified retirement plans; |

41




NO. 49831 P ¢4/51
DIPEE'UlO onqgh-] 4§fw-uouu§2rifﬁ9.no SRIEH/2156649620 +21264% T-14%  P.043/080 F-948

(6) An order reforming plaintiffs and other members of the class’ contracts
with defendants in accordance with the parties' agreement as described abOvci;

(7) An order awarding such other and further relief as this Court mai' deem
just and proper including any extraordinary equitable and/or injunctive rélief as
permitted by law or equity to attach, impound or otherwise restrict the defehdants'

assets 10 assure plaintffs have an effective remedy; and !
(8) Other equitable relief that the Court may deem proper. ‘
(e) Anaward of attorneys' fees and the costs and expenses of this liﬁ%aﬁon,
including experts' fees; and
(f) Any other or further relief that this Court deems just and equitabl.@e.
|
|
|
|

DATED: New York, New York
December 9, 2002

WOLF HALDENSTEIN ADLER
FREEMAN & HERZ, LLP

y:
Dani€l W. Krasner =
ert B. Weintraub !
270 Madison Avenue ;
New York, New York 10016 |
‘Tel: (212) 545-460 |

Fax: (212)) 545—4653 |
Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs and the C]éss

CHITWOOD & HARLEY

CralgG Harlcg Georgia Bar No. 326313
Promenade II, Suite 2900

1230 Peachtrec Street, NE |

Atlanta, eor 30309 |

Tel: ( 404:'? -3900 |

Fax: (404) 876-4476 .

Local Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Clas$ 300524

]
H
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Western Reserve Life Assurance Co. of Ohio (“WRL™)
P.O. Box 9051 ¢ Clearwater, FL 33758-9051
DISCLOSURE FOR VARIABLE ANNUITIES

1 have applied for a vanable annuity contract ("Contract”) from WRL. 1 have received prospectuses for the Contract (*Qomiract Prospec:
tus") and for the WRL Series Fund, Inc. (*Fund Prospectus®).

Applieants :
Initials My Representadve has reviewed esch of these {tems with me. and | undersiand:

-~
..5..) A.  The following which the prospecruses describe in detail:

1. What amlhuving? A variable deferred annuity contract, not a mutual fund or 8 Cerificaze of Depesit or other type ol
bank obligaticn.

1. Inveetrment aptiqns. | can direst my payments to the invastment aceount or to subssccounis which 1 select Each
subaceount invests in 2 corresponding portlelio of an underlying mutual fund with 2 pardeular investment objective.
In some states, WRL may deduct state preraium fax from my payments first. |

3, Anzws) charge, Each year WRL will deduet an Annual Congact Chargs, if applicable, from the cash vﬂue of the

Contract, 1

4. Subaccounrand pomiolio (zee. Also, both the selected subaccouns and che portfolios m which they (nyest have
certain charges and expenses, |

5. Suggpder or Cash Withdmwgls, These may have cenain chargr.s or limits, Withdrawal or surrender charges, if they
apply, may be significant and lest for several years, i

6 Cansnbaccount values go down? Yes. The invesunent performance will [lustuate due to market ::ond.ﬂnons and

’ invesament resules. Subaccount unlts, when redeemed, may be worth more or less than when they wer«: purchased,
7. Whar clse cgn affeccmy congract valyes and bapefits? Furute Contract ¢ash values will also depend on ic incerest

credited to the Fixed Account (if selected) and on the amount and timing of any payments and partial withdrawsls 1
raake, Partial withdrawsls and any unpaid loans will reduce the amount of deach benefit payable. i

- = B. Ammmm My application correctly states whether 1 intend to replace an existing policy or
contract \o buy this Contract, (To replace includes to surrender, end, change, reduce o7 withdraw from the existing
contracr o7 10 borrow more than 25% of its loan value.) 1[50, ] have:

- considered:

a) any withdrawal charge | may have t pay on the existing conorace;

b) that there may be new withdrawal charges [er several years under this Contracs,

c) other fees, charges, investmens opsions and feamures of both contmcts; and

d) any tax consequences of the exchange.

+ reviewed my existing contract with my represgntative and determimed that the replacement is appropnar.c to my

needs or objeemives. .

|
!
I
l

Taxes. WRL does not give tax or legal advice, 1will consult with my own professional tax or lega) adwlsor 2s 1 see fit.
There is a 10% {ederal income tax penalty on income disaributed before age 594/, subject to cenain exéepuom The
“Federal Tax Marters® section of the Contract Prospestus glves more information, ;

o D.  Mynpeeds snd objecrives, Variable deferred annuities are dmgned for lonig-tem tnvestors who seek a dhot:e of
investment options. 1have reviewed my insurable needs and financial objectives with my Representative. 1 have
det:rm:n:d thal my Payments are affordable and the Ccmnc: is appropriate 10 my needs or objectives,

P [ 0 = o . [ b,

ngnamre Bf Appﬁam Date :

I 1 have rcmwcd each of these items with the applicanc:
- o~ '7' : . b ,’ J,

A l"f".’ A Y _,l’?n ~ Witness' * .L'/' ,"‘ .,"/ .'J'-'-""Tl—"—-"" //2 f,
Name of Applfr\%‘am (Please Print) ﬁgt:m‘:' o A%:m &
Original - WRL First Copy - Agent = Second Copy - Appli.ant
{

LD1345-454 I
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QPD DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND APPLICATION SUPPLEMENT FOR

INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ANNUITY
FLEXIBLE PAYMENT VARIABLE ACCUMULATION DEFERRED ANNUITY CONTRACT

| have applied for an Individual Retirement Annuity In an application from Weslern Reserve Lite Assurance Co. of
Onio.l understand that this Individual Retirement Annuity may be revoked within seven days of| receipt of this
Disclosure Statement only by my written notice of revopcation mailed or vellvered 10; IRA AOministrator, Western
Reserve Life Assurance Co. ol Onio, P.O. Box 5088, Clearwaler, Fieniga 33758, In the event ||s0 revoke this
Ingividual Retitement Annulty, | am entitled 10 a return of the amount set torth under the Right to Examine Caontract
provision of the annuity. ’ !

By accepting this application supplement in conjunction with the contract, | am requesting that the coniract be treated
%s gn Indlvidual Retirement Annuity under Section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code (hereafter referred to as the
008}, |

{
An IRA is an annuity contract that meets the following requirements: (1) the contract must be issued Gy an Insurance
company qualified 10 do business in the state [n which the contract was sold; (2) the contract may not be transterable
by the owner to any person other than the company selling the product; {3) except in the case of coﬁtertbuﬁons to a
simplified employee pension pian ("SEP), a SIMPLE plan, or rellover contributions (described below), the annuat
premium for the annuity contract cannot exceed $2,000; (4) the premium must not be fixed; (S) any refund of premiums
must be applied toward the payment of future premiums or the purchase of additional benefits before the close of the
calendar year following the year of the refund; (6) the entire interest of the owner in the corjtract must be
nonforfeitable; and (7) the contract must comply with certain minimum gistribution requirements. l

| understand payments must be pald In cash, Payments may be treated as deductions {except In|the case of @
Rollover or a Transter) from my gross mncome lor Federal Income 1ax purposes. | must also flie IRS Form 5329 with
my Federal Income tax return if 1ax is payable because of excess contributions, premature distributions or excess
accumulations.

|
If | receive total distribution from my IRA and from any tax-qualifieg retirement plans and tax-sneltere:ed annuities in
excess-of §150,000 for a calendar year, | may be subject 10 8 15% excise tax on such excess distribution. This excise
tax is suspended during the 19497, 1998, and 1998 calendar years, i

A distribution 10 the beneficiary of my IRA will be Inciuded in my gross estate for fegeral estate tax Lurposes. My
designation of a beneficiary to recelve distributions from my 1RA on or after my death will not be considgred a transfer
for federal gift tax purposes. t

| alsg understand that:

1. In general, during any taxabie year, | am allowed a deduction from my gross income for the Lmount of my
contributions 10 my individual retirement program, up 10 the lgast of the following amounts: |
{a) for contributions that are not made under a savings incentive mateh plan for employees (SIMPLE), described
in Code Section 408(p): |
m $2,000; or !
2) 100% of compensation; |
(b) for contributions made under & SIMPLE Tptan. a percentage of compensation, as provided iniCode Section
408()(2)(A), up 10 a maximum amount of 86,000, indexea for inflation under Code Section 415(d), See Code
Seclion 408(p)(2)(E). - '

2. In general, If | do nol quailfy tor a SIMPLE IRA and Il | mgke a contribution to a separate Individual retirsment
program for my unemployed spouse (or my employed spouse. it he or she elects to being wreated &s having no
compensation), the total dedugtion is limited 1o the Ieast of the lollowing amounts: \

%a) $4,000 - - a maximum of $2,000 per persen; or {
D) 100% af compensation. ;

tls my further understanding (except In the case of 2 Rollover or a transter) that if | do not quauh,l{for a SIMPLE
1RA, no more than $2,000 can be contribured to the account of gither spouse during any tax year and that a joint

tax return Must be filed to receive the full deduction.
|

3.(a) If | am nol married, and not an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan, | may make a
fully-deductible confribution to my individual rgtirement program, up Lo the Imit described in {tem 1 above. If |
am married and neither | nor my spouse Is an active participant In an employer-sponsored retirement ptan, |
may make a fully-deductible cantribution to my indlvidual retirement program, up to the limits described in
Item 1 or 2, whichever is applicable. If | (or my spouse, if | file a joint return) am covered by|an employer-
sponsored retirement plan, my contribution to my individual retirament program will be deductible only fo the
extent permiited by tem 4 below, |

IRAGB010-12/92 COPY TO BE RETAINED BY POLICYMOLDER rev. 01/97
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{b) An employer-sponsored retirement plan Includas any of the following:
a qualified pension, profil-sharing or stock bonus plan described in Code Section 401(a) or|401(k):

a Qualified annulty plan desgribed in Code Sectlon 403(a); !

a tax-sheltered annyily or custodlal account described in Cooe Section (403(b); |

a savings incentive maich plan for employges (SIMPLE) described in Code Section 408(p)!

a plan establishad for its employess by the United Staes, by a State or political subdivisiop thereof, or an

employee or Instrumentality of any of the foregoing; '
* a Simplifted Employed Pension (SEP) (established prior to January 1, 1997} |

(c) Whether | am an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan depends on the drpe of plan thal
is sponsored. Generally, If my employer sponsored 2 cefined benefil (pension) plan, | am considered to be
an aclive panicifant It | am eligivle 10 accrue a beneflf under tre plan, It does nol matter for this purpose
wnetner or not | actually do accrue a benetfit. If my employer maintains a defined contripution pian, | am
-Qenerally considered to be an active participant if an employer contribytlen or forfelture Is icredited 16 my
account during the year. | am also considered (¢ be an aclive participant if | make either voluntary or
mandalery contributions 1o a 401(k) plan or any other emplayer-sponsored retirement plan, whether or not
S:JCh contributlon is made on a pre-tax or aftér-tax basls and whether or not my employer confributes to that
plan |

« & o e [ 3

4, (a) If1 (or my spouse, If we file a joint return) am an active particlpant in an employer-sponsered rlietlrernent pian,
my abilify to deduct the contribution to my individual retirement prograrm will be limited if my adjusted gross
income exceeds (determined for IRA purpose) the "applicable amount™. The "applicable amoupt” depends on
my marital status and how | file my @x return, if; v Vo
* | am single, the applicable amount is §26.000. i

* 1 am married filing Jointly. the applicable amount is $40,000. o

* | am marrled Ming separately, the applicable amount is $0. ;

(b) \f my adjusted gross income exceeds the "applicable amount by not more than $10,000 | may still make a -
deductible contribution to my Individual retirement program, However, the deductible amount will be jess than
$2,000 (or $4,000, If item 2 is applicable). | will consull my tax advisor for detalls as to how r:# determine the
deductible portion ot my contrlbution. i

{c) ' It my adjusied gross incame |5 less than $35,000 if | am singie, $50,000 ¢ | am married filing jointly, or
$10,000 if | am married filing separately, then | may make a minimum deductible contribution 1o my individual

' retirement program ol $200, regardless of the amount caleulated above, ;

5. Even if my deouctible cantribution 10 my individual retirement program Is llmited, | may still contn'jbute up to the

limits described in items 1 or 2. The difference beiween those limits and the deductible amount will not be

deductible. However, all earnings on my non-deductible ¢ontribution wili be tax-deferred until distrit#ution.

6. Contributions 10 my individua! retirement program will be reported on my Form 1040 or 1040A. | 1nust degignate
the deductible and non-deductible portion of my distribution on that return, as well as the distribltions received
from my Individual retirement programs during the year and the aggregate account balance of all of my mdividual
reticernent Frograms as of the end of the year. if | overstate on my tax return the non-geductible amount, a penalty
of $100 will be imposed on each overstatement, uniess ! can show that the overstatement was du? to reasonable
cause. ‘

7. The contribution 10 my individual retirement program {whether or not geductible) must be made by lthe due gate of
my tax raturn, without regard 10 extensions, !

[

8. For purposes of determining the size of the payments into (his contract, only my compensation and jearned income
for personal gervices actuajly rengered may be used (Including wages, salaries and professional|fees and other
amounts received as compensation). If | received alimony or income from a separate maintenance agreement
which is includable in my gross income, | may inciude these amounls as compensation. Earnings from property
such as interast, rents and dividends may not be used; neither may compensation nol includable I gross income
as income earned from sources outside the Unlted States. |

|
9. No deduction from gross income is allowed In respect 16 a payment in my taxable year In which | aﬁain age 70 12
or thereafter. i

10. If | make a contribution In excess of the amount thal may be contributed 1o an individyal reﬁremént program for
any taxable year, an excise tax of % o/ the amounl of the excess contribuion will be levied onime, unless the
excess is relunded to me on or before that date (including any extensions) for filing my income tax retum for that
taxable year; the 6% excise tax wiil be Ievied in each subsequent taxable year as long as the excess contribution
remaing in the Annuity unless and until the excess is applied to a subsequent year's ¢contribution,

|

11, This contract must be for the exclusive beneflt of me and my beneticiary or beneficiaries. The cbntract shall be
nonforfeitable. |I
|
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12. This contract is being purchased primarily for retirement purposes at or after my age 58 1/2. but | ne‘we the right ta
surrender it for its cash value prior to retirement. _

13. (a) Any benefll payable under the contract wiil be treated as taxable Income (ncludable in gross income under the
provisions of the Code, and any distribution prior to my attaining age 59 1/2 will be subject lo| an additronal
penalty tax of 10% of the amount of the distributon. I this 15 a SIMPLE IRA, the penalty 1ax for any
distribution prior to age 59 1/2 will be increased 10 2 total of 25% for distributions during the two year period
beginning on the date | firsy participated In any qualitied salary reduction arrangement maintained by my
employer 10 fund the SIMPLE IRA, However, the disiributions prior 10 age 59 1/2 under one ol the following
circunstances will not be sybject to the 10% or 25% additional penalty tax. These Include: l\

*  dismibutlons after my death;

distributions made because of my disanillty; |

distributions which are part ot a scheduled series of substantially equal periodic payments tor my lite or

life expectancy, or the joint lives (or life expectancies) of me and 3 beneficiary; |

distributions tor medical expenses In excess of 7 1/2% of Adjusted Gross Income for the tax year;

distributions for madical care insurance premiums for me and My Spouse and my dependents. (To quality,

1 must be separatad from employment and have retelved unemployiment compensation under any tederal

o7 state unemployment compensation law for 12 congecutive weeks,) |

() Distributions of my non-deduciible conributions are not subject to the 10% additional penalty tax, bul this tax

will be assessed on the earnings on the non-deductible, contributions. ol

(o) To the extent permitted by applicacle law, tax-iree rollovers can be made from one SIMPLE IRA into;

(1) another SIMPLE IRA; or i

(23 an IRA, afier a two-year period has expired since | first participated in 8 SIMPLE IRA. ;

(a} For contributions not made under a SIMPLE IRA, the entire proceeds from my contract can be transferred into

an individual Retirement Aceount at any time without tax penaity (but no more fraguently than onge a year, if |
obtain passession of the funds and redeposit the tunds tn an IRA within the 60 gay time period), |

h
1
-

-

v

14, The contract and the benefits provided by it cannot be sold, assigned, alienated or pledged as collate'vaf for a loan
or as security fof the performance of an obligation or for any other purpose to any person, provided thal, it | shoutd
take any ong of these actions (which are prohibited transactions under the Cade), m Individual Retirement
Annuity wifl be disqualified and the full vaiue of it wiil be treated as 1axable income under Yrem 13 abgve as of the
beginnin‘g of my taxabie year in which tne action occurs. In addition, the additional 10% penalty {fax may be
applicable, |

15. Notwithstanding the contents of item 14, the contract ¢an be transferred ¢ a former spouse under g divorce
decree or written Instrument incidental to such divorce, without such action being considered 1o be a prohibited
trarfsaction resulting in dlsqualification. %

16. Notwithstanding any provision of this agreement (o the contrary, the distribution of my interast shail be made in
accordance with the minimum distribution requirements of section 408(a)(6) or section 408(b)(3) o! the Code and
the requlations thereunder, including the Incldental geath benefit provisions of section 1.401(a)(9)-2 of the
proposed reguiations. all of which are herein incorporated by reference, '.

|
17. My entire Interest in the account must be distributed, or begin 1o be distribuled, by my required beglinning date,
which is the April 1 following the calendar year in which | reach age 70 1/2. For each succeeding year, distribution
must be made on or before December 31. By the required beginning date | may elec! to have the bafance in the
account dislributed in one of the following forms: )

{a) a single sum payment; !

{b) equal or substantally equal payments over my life; ;

(c) equal or substantially equal payments qver my life and the lile of my dgesignated beneficiary; ;

(d) equal or substantially equal payments over & specified period that may not be longer than my fife expectancy;

(e} equal or substantially equal payments over a specified periog that may not be fonger than the jgint {ife and
fast surviver expectancy of me and my designated beneficiary. !

18. 1f | die before my entire inlerest Is distributed, the entiré remaining Interast will be distributed as follows:|

(@) 1 | die on or after disribulions have begun under Paragraph 17, the entire remaining !mera%t must be
disiributed a! least as rapidly as provided under Paragraph 17. !

(b) It die before distributions have begun under Paragraph 17, the entire remaining interest must beidistributed
as elected by me o, it | have nol 50 elected, as elected by the beneliciary or beneficiaries, as follows:

(1) by December 315t of the year containing the fifth anniversary of my death; ¢r !

(2) in equal or sybstantlally equal payments over the lite or life expeglancy ¢f the designated beneficiary or
beneficiaries starting by December 31st of the year following the year of my dealh, If, however, the
beneficiary Is my surviving spouse, then this disteibution is not required to begin before December ?1st of the
year in which | would have wrned 70 1/2. ;

!
§
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19, Unless otnerwise elected by me prior to the commencement of disttibutions under Paragraph 17, ¢r, if applicable,
by my surviving spouse where | die before distribulions have commenced, life expectancias of me or my spouse
as beneflclary shall be recalculated annuatly tor the purpose of distributions under Paragraphs 17 and 18, An

20.

glection not to recalcuiate shall be irevocable and shall apply to ali subsaquent years. The life ex
nonspouse beneliciary shall not be recalculated.

| may satisty the minimum distribution requirements under section 408(a)(5) and 408(b)(3) ¢
recelving a distripution from one IRA that is equal to the amount required 1o satisfy the minim
reauirements for wo or more IRAs. For thig purpose, as the owner of two or more IRAS | may use

ectancy of my

the Code by
m distribution
@ "alternative

method" described In Notice 88-38, 1988-1 C.B24, t0 satlsfy the minimum distribution requireménts described

above,

21. To the extent that a distribution to me constitutes a rewrn of my non-deauctidle ingividual retirément program

22.

contributions, such amount will not be includabie in income, | will consult my tax adviser for inform
to determine the taxable portion of my distribution.

Taxable distributions from my annuity will be taxed as orginary income in the year received rega
source. | will have Federal inceme tax withheld from an individual retirement program distribution
otherwise. Generally, if the distribution 18 10 be deliverec outsige the United States, 3 30% tax wi

ton 35 (10 how

rdiess of their
uniess | elect
hholging must

be applied,

23, The contract will be amended as and when necessary In ordet to comply with {he provisions of
regulations thereunder.

the Code and

24. The value of my IRA is based upon the value of the Accumulation Units allocated to me, which depends on the
amount of my Purchase Payment. The minimum initial Purchase Payment is the minimum initlal purchase price
as stated in the Prospecius., The Accumulation Unit vaiue will vary from one Valuation Perlod 10 the next
depending on the invesimen! results experienced by each Sub-Account to which | have alivcdted Purghase
Payments within the Series Account, The value of an Accumulation Unit per each Sub-Account at|the ¢lose of a

- Valuation Period is Getermined by multiplying the Accumulation Unit Value for that Sub-Account at the close of the
immedlately preceding Valuation Perlod by the experience factor fer that Sub-Account for the current Valuation
Perlod. In calcutaning a Sub-Account's experience factor, the nel asset vaiue for each share of the Portfulio of the
Fund at tne end of the current Valuation Period is Increased by the amount per Portfalio share of any dividend or
capital gain distribution declared by the Portfolio during the current Valuation Peried, and decreased Dy a per
Partfolio share charge for taxas, If any. The total is diviged by the net asset value per Portdolio share at the end of
the preceding Valuation Perlod and decreased by a par Portiolio share ¢harge for taxes, if any. A charge equal to
either 1.25% or 1,40% as deciared in the Contract, on an annual basis, of the net assels for each day In the
Valuatien Period is subtracted io compensate Western Reserve Life for certain mortality and expense risks.
Earnings or growth in the value of my IRA, however, ¢an neither be guaranteed nor projected,

]

25. A Contingent Deferred Sales Charge ("CDSC") may be imposed upon withdrawal from or Surrender of my IRA.

The charge is a pércentage of the amount withdrawn or surrendered and is stated in the Prospectus and the

Varlable Apnuity Contracl. The Praspectus includes an example of how to calculate the CDSC, (WRL Fregdom

Beliwether Variable Annulty has no CDSC.) ||

State premium taxes, il any, wiit be deducted from either the gross purchase paymant, the amount surrenderad or
withdrawn, or from the annuity purchase value at distribulion, as raquired by state law. Unlass waived by Western
Reserve Life, a collectlon fee of $1.28 will be deducted from purchase payments under payment modes other than
annual or single pay plans. An aoministration fee of $30 will be deducted annually on the anniversary of the
annulty or upon surrénder of the annuity. After 12 free transfers of conmact values from a Sub-Account each year,
there will be & $10 transfer charge for aaditional lransfers. The values of the annuity held in the Sgries Account
¢an be neither guaranteed nor projected. 1

The WESTERN RESERVE LIFE indlvidual Refirement Annuity has not been filed with internal Revenue Service
for approval, A determination as 1o the form of the IRA Annuity does not represent 3 determination |by the RS of
-the merits of the annuity as an investment.

26,

27.

28, Additional Information In respect o Individua! Retirement annuiies, accounts and bonds, may be oblained from

any dlstrict office of the internal Revenue Service (in the form of Publication 550 particularly).
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